**RECEIVED**

**Jun 25 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lancaster County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DERRICK A. MCILWAIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001425

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in admitting crime scene and autopsy photographs which contained detailed and repetitive depictions of the decedent's decomposing body, since the photographs had no probative value but the danger of unfair prejudice and considerations of needless presentation of cumulative evidence weighed against admission under Rule 403, SCRE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 23, 2021, a Lancaster County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Derrick McIlwain, for murder. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Kristi Curtis and a jury, from March 21 – 25, 2022. Appellant was represented by Mark Grier. Luck Campbell and Nicole Workman prosecuted the case. Appellant was convicted as indicted, and he was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.<sup>1</sup>

On March 31, 2022, Appellant submitted a motion for a new trial. On September 1, 2022, the court issued an order denying the motion.<sup>2</sup>

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> R. 702. R. 1; R. 691, l. 21 – 692, l. 1; R. 695, l. 25 – 696, l. 22.

<sup>2</sup> R. 698; 700.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The admission of evidence is within the circuit court’s discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Dickerson*, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011). “A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012); *see also State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” (citation omitted)). In exercising its discretion on a Rule 403 objection to the admissibility of autopsy photographs, the trial court “must balance the [unfair prejudice] of graphic photos against their probative value.” *Dial*, 405 S.C. at 260, 746 S.E.2d at 502 (citation omitted).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting crime scene and autopsy photographs which contained detailed and repetitive depictions of the decedent's decomposing body, since the photographs had no probative value but the danger of unfair prejudice and considerations of needless presentation of cumulative evidence weighed against admission under Rule 403, SCRE.

### *Introduction*

The trial court abused its discretion when it admitted twenty crime scene and autopsy photographs of the body over objection. The court did not exclude any of the photographs. Any evidentiary value the photographs may have once possessed was negated by extensive testimony from law enforcement officers and forensic pathologists. The photographs of the body were unwarranted, repetitious, and they were unfairly prejudicial due to their detailed depictions of the decedent's "rotting" body. Rule 403, SCRE.

### *Relevant facts*

On May 28, 2019, the body of Kimberly Alger (Decedent) was found behind a vacant trailer on Spirit Drive in Lancaster County. A potential tenant had stopped by to look at the empty home. The potential tenant walked around into the back yard, saw the body, and called 911. The temperature that day was hot: one hundred and two degrees. The body was in the direct sun. Police officers who responded to the scene noticed evidence of decomposition and insect activity in the body.<sup>3</sup>

Decedent's cause of death was eventually determined to be asphyxia due to strangulation. A first autopsy by an inexperienced pathologist did not determine a cause of death. A second autopsy by two other experienced pathologists determined the cause of death was strangulation.

---

<sup>3</sup> R. 65, l. 7 – 67, l. 13; R. 70, l. 14 – 73, l. 19; R. 96, ll. 7-24.

Microscopic examination of tissue samples taken from the neck during the second autopsy assisted in this determination.<sup>4</sup>

Prior to her death, Decedent and Appellant were romantically involved, and they lived together at a residence on Dickens Road. Their Dickens Road home and the vacant Spirit Drive residence were roughly a mile and a half apart. Decedent and Appellant had severe drug addiction problems, and they had a turbulent relationship.<sup>5</sup>

Two nights before the decedent's body was found, on May 26, 2019, Decedent's mother (Mother) said Decedent had called her. Mother stated Decedent was crying and hysterical. According to Mother, Decedent claimed Appellant had strangled her, and she said he threatened to kill her if she called the police. Mother hung up and called the Sheriff's Department, and a deputy went by to check on Decedent. However, Decedent said there was no problem and she sent the deputy away. Mother said Decedent called her again, after law enforcement left; she was again crying and hysterical.<sup>6</sup>

Appellant disappeared before Decedent's body was found. Four witnesses testified at trial that Appellant made admissions about Decedent's death. On May 27, 2019, Appellant saw his cousin, Donald Ray Anthony, shortly before he left town. Anthony testified that Appellant said he had killed Decedent. Anthony claimed Appellant did not have any visible injuries. At the time

---

<sup>4</sup> R. 271, l. 6 – 283, l. 17; R. 445, l. 13 – 449, l. 3; R. 450, l. 22 – 472, l. 6.

<sup>5</sup> R. 517, l. 8 – 520, l. 25; R. 535, l. 18 – 537, l. 25; R. 510, ll. 20-22.

<sup>6</sup> R. 162, l. 10 – 165, l. 22; R. 208, l. 6 – 211, l. 1.

of his testimony, Anthony faced eighty-nine years in prison in Lancaster County alone for charges which included accessory after the fact to this murder.<sup>7</sup>

Witness Brittany Oneppo claimed that after Decedent's death, Appellant told her he "couldn't handle [Decedent's] foul mouth[.]" Oneppo faced seventy years in prison at the time of her testimony for charges including accessory after the fact to this murder. Robert Chapman, a former cellmate of Appellant's, claimed that Appellant told him he had warned Decedent not to call the police, and Appellant said he "snapped" and "choked her out." Chapman claimed Appellant said it "took forever" and he had to kill Decedent "twice." Chapman alleged Appellant told him Decedent's bowels released while he choked her. Chapman faced forty-five years in prison for unrelated charges at the time of his testimony. Finally, witness Brandi Walton said Appellant told her he killed Decedent because "she kept F'ing with him."<sup>8</sup>

Appellant was tried for murder, and his testimony was sufficient to support verdicts of self-defense or voluntary manslaughter, as evidenced by the jury being instructed on both. Appellant testified he and Decedent were arguing the night of May 26. Appellant said he called Decedent offensive names and Decedent slapped him. After the police had come and gone, Appellant went to sleep, and he woke up to Decedent trying to stab him with a knife. Appellant testified Decedent cut him once and stabbed him once. Appellant said he grabbed Decedent by her neck. Then Appellant "blacked out." When he "came to," Appellant said Decedent was not breathing. Appellant "panicked" and he "started weighing [his] odds" "as far as me being a black

---

<sup>7</sup> R. 178, l. 16 – 194, l. 7; R. 199, ll. 4-7.

<sup>8</sup> R. 263, ll. 1-10; R. 316, l. 15 – 320, l. 12; R. 422, l. 4 – 430, l. 7; R. 434, l. 10 – 436, l. 11.

man and her being a white woman.” Appellant loaded Decedent’s body in the car, drove to the vacant residence on Spirit Drive, and abandoned the body.<sup>9</sup>

Appellant objected to the admission of twenty crime scene and autopsy photographs of the body: State’s Exhibit Nos. 10, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19 (crime scene photographs of the body), and State’s Exhibit Nos. 32, 34, 35, 36, 37, 39, 40, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46 (autopsy photographs of the body). These photographs are on file with this Court. Appellant argued the photographs were inadmissible under Rule 403, SCRE. As to the crime scene photographs, which were admitted first, Appellant argued,

Judge, you know, there’s repetition over and over of the same images that don’t prove anything different as far as Ms. Alger’s person . . . this one is already in . . . the representation of how she was found is well documented by that photo. And then there’s just a multitude of closeups of several of Ms. Alger’s face that are kind of distorted and, you know, I think they are more prejudicial than probative.<sup>10</sup>

In response, the solicitor stated she would withdraw four of the photographs. The court ruled the remaining photographs were “probative of the condition in which she was found and possibly cause of death, so I’m going to allow them.” As to the autopsy photographs, which were offered subsequently, Appellant objected to their cumulative nature. The Court did not exclude any of the crime scene or autopsy photographs.<sup>11</sup>

The photographs of the body were gratuitous. Testimony by law enforcement officers was sufficient to impart the circumstances in which the body was found. For example, Officer

---

<sup>9</sup> R. 685, l. 20 – 689, l. 25; R. 539, l. 5 – 546, l. 22; R. 580, l. 18 – 584, l. 7.

<sup>10</sup> R. 77, ll. 8-24; R. 87, ll. 17-20. Defense counsel was referring to State’s Exhibit #2, which is on file with this Court.

<sup>11</sup> R. 78, ll. 1-13; R. 103, ll. 1-11.

Taylor, a crime scene investigator with the Sheriff's Office, testified about the apparent decomposition of the body, and the presence of insect activity. Another crime scene investigator, Officer Steele, also testified about the condition of the body in situ. Likewise, expert medical testimony was sufficient to explain the cause of death and attendant circumstances. Three pathologists testified about the condition of the body at autopsy, and two of these experts concurred on the cause of death and explained it in detail.<sup>12</sup>

Solicitor Campbell highlighted the decomposition in closing argument: “[Th]e flies and maggots and the ants, and even Kim’s own body rotting would destroy any evidence left.” “[S]he sat out in the sun for two days rotting and having ants and flies eat her . . .”<sup>13</sup>

### ***Discussion***

The court did not exclude any of these gruesome photographs. It found the photographs had probative value, and it did not take their prejudicial effect into account. This was error. Under Rule 403, SCRE, “evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” “The trial judge must balance the prejudicial effect of graphic photographs against their probative value.” *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 249, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008).

“In the *guilt* phase of a trial, photographs of the murder victims should be excluded where the facts they are intended to show have been fully established by competent testimony.” *State v. Kornahrens*, 290 S.C. 281, 288-289, 350 S.E.2d 180, 185 (1986) (emphasis in original). *See*

---

<sup>12</sup> R. 79, ll. 2-5; R. 88, l. 20 – 95, l. 4; R. 131, ll. 3-18; R. 269, l. 17 – 284, l. 4; R. 450, l. 22 – 472, l. 6.

<sup>13</sup> R. 657, ll. 9-10; R. 659, ll. 5-7.

*State v. Nelson*, Op. No. 28171 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed August 9, 2023) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 25, 33) (autopsy photographs have little, if any, evidentiary value where the information they depict is not in dispute; their scant evidentiary value is negated by the forensic examiner's testimony).

“Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) (citing *State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997)). “To constitute unfair prejudice, the photographs must create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *Martucci*, 380 S.C. at 250, 669 S.E.2d at 607 (quoting *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995)).

In *State v. Kornahrens*, 290 S.C. at 289, 350 S.E.2d at 186, the Supreme Court found the admission of autopsy photographs was not error during the sentencing phase of a trial, and it specifically noted that a lack of decomposition informed admissibility: “The appearance of the bodies as the defendant left them has not been altered by decomposition or by any outside force. While these photographs and slides most likely would have been inadmissible in the guilt phase, under the facts of this case, they were relevant in the sentencing phase to show the circumstances of the crime and the character of the defendant.” Unlike *Kornahrens*, this was not a bifurcated trial. The photographs were admitted for guilt, not punishment, and they depicted decomposition in merciless detail.

The photographs had no probative value. There was extensive expert testimony from three pathologists about the state of the body. Two testified about their determination Decedent was strangled to death based on damage to the neck. The coroner testified about the body. There

was testimony from multiple police officers about the location and appearance of the body. Appellant admitted he choked the decedent and discarded her body. The photographs were unnecessary to substantiate material facts. *See State v. Jones*, Op. No. 28145 (S.C. Sup. Ct. refiled July 19, 2023) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 28 at 15, 50) (during punishment phase, photographs of children’s bodies in advanced stages of decomposition were inadmissible under Rule 403; they had “no probative value”). *See also State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. at 261, 746 S.E.2d at 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (autopsy photographs of minor victim’s injuries “were highly probative to the issues of whether Victim was abused and whether the abuse was the cause of his death,” where defendant claimed Victim’s injuries were the result of accident); *State v. Holder*, 382 S.C. 278, 291, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (admission of autopsy photographs of two-year-old child’s internal injuries was not error, where defendant claimed child was injured in ATV accident and pathologist used photographs to refute this explanation). *Cf. State v. Hess*, 279 S.C. 14, 18, 301 S.E.2d 547, 549-50 (1983) (upholding limitation of defense testimony where it was merely cumulative to other testimony).

The likelihood of prejudice was substantial as the photographs invited a decision on an improper basis. These were 8 x 10 color photographs; many were closeups. The body was putrescent and stiff. The skin was sloughing off in patches and the eyes were gluey. Insects were in the flesh. The photographs were shocking, and their entry was improper. *See State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 539, 763 S.E.2d 22, 30 (2014) (Kittredge, J., concurring) (admission of autopsy photographs of child eaten by dogs was error since the primary purpose of the horrific photographs was to inflame the passions of the jury); *Torres*, 390 S.C. at 624, 703 S.E.2d at 229 (autopsy photographs were “at the outer limits of what our law permits a jury to consider”); *Brazell*, 325 S.C. at 78, 480 S.E.2d at 72 (“Although [the autopsy photographs] are in color, the