RECEIVED

Jun 25 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DERRICK A. MCILWAIN,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-001425

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721-0607

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

As pointed out in the Standard of Review section of this brief, it is photos calculated to arouse the prejudices or sympathy of the jury that must be removed, and only when they are unnecessary to prove some fact. Middleton, 288 S.C. at 24, 339 S.E.2d at 693 ("Although photographs may be used to corroborate other evidence, it is well established that *photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury* are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial." (emphasis added)(internal citations omitted)); Torres, *supra* ("Photographs *calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury* should be

excluded *if* they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.”) (emphasis added). McIlwain has not shown that these 8 photos were calculated to arouse the sympathies or prejudices of the jury. In fact, they were not offered for that purpose but were *necessary to show and substantiate material facts*: in what condition the victim was found, her location out of view of the public, what clothes she was wearing and not wearing to establish the time and location of her murder and identity of her killer, the fact she had not been robbed of her jewelry, and the injuries to her body especially to the neck area to establish the proximate cause and manner of death. See State v. Hawes, 423 S.C. 118, 130-31, 813 S.E.2d 513, 519-20 (Ct. App. 2018) (trial court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted crime scene photos that established the circumstances of the crime scene, corroborated the testimony of a witness and a responding officer, and were relevant to the issue of malice); People v. Garceau, 862 P.2d 664, 667 (CA 1993) (photo of mummified victims hidden within a dresser was highly probative because it corroborated testimony relating to concealment of the bodies); See State v. Oliveira-Coutinho, 865 N.W.2d 740, 762 (Neb. 2015)(finding no error in admission of photos of skeletal remains "including several close-ups of the skull taken from different angles").²²

Further, any danger of prejudice was low because these 8 photographs did not suggest that the jury convict McIlwain on an improper basis. See Wiles, 383 S.C. at 158, 679 S.E.2d at

²² In fact, in one case, State v. Spodnick, 292 S.C. 68, 354 S.E.2d 904 (1987), where a victim had been beaten to death, and then hacked-up and buried, a piece of bone fragment and tissue was admitted into evidence, despite an offer by the defense to stipulate to any matter the evidence as introduced would prove. Here the photos are no different than blood or hair of a victim introduced to show the situs of the crime. State v. Fields, 264 S.C. 260, 214 S.E.2d 320 (1975); State v. Brown, 101 S.C. 404, 85 S.E. 957 (1915). Much more graphic photos have been admitted when their probative value is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See Williams v. State, 301 S.W.3d 675, 693 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009) (close-up photos of injuries were gruesome but they portrayed no more than the gruesomeness of the injuries inflicted by the defendant); Narvaiz v. State, 840 S.W.2d 415, 430 (Tex. Crim. App. 1992) (although photos were gruesome, they merely depicted the gruesomeness of the crime scene as found by the police).

176; Rule 403, SCRE (relevant evidence is to be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of **unfair prejudice.**”; Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added). In order to constitute **unfair prejudice**, “the photographs must create a tendency to suggest a decision on an *improper basis*, commonly, although not necessarily, an emotional one.” Kelley, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 SE.2d at 370-71 (quoting Alexander, 303 S.C. at 382, 401 S.E. at 149); *See* United States v. Gartmon, 146 F.3d 1015, 1021 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (“Rule 403 does not provide a shield for defendants who engage in outrageous acts, permitting only the crimes of Caspar Milquetoasts to be described fully to a jury. It does not generally require the government to sanitize its case, to deflate its witnesses' testimony, or to tell its story in a monotone.”). These 8 photos were admitted to establish medical facts, and other facts, on a slightly decomposed body, which the jury might not be able to understand or believe from simple witness testimony. Heyward, *supra*. Further, they established facts that a diagram, by whomever created it, could not establish in a case where the cause, time, manner, and location of death was in dispute until the defendant took the stand. *See* Benton; Heyward (distinguishing Nelson).

Further, a trial judge’s weighing of probative value verses prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE, is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard and should be reversed **only in exceptional circumstances**. State v. Gadson, 439 S.C. 278, 886 S.E.2d 719 (Ct. App. 2023)(referencing State v. Brooks, 428 S.C. 618, 635, 837 S.E.2d 236, 245 (Ct App. 2019)(quoting Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28). Under this standard, in this case, Judge Curtis must be affirmed. The 8 photos were relevant to establish several important facts and to corroborate other witnesses’ testimony, and they were not needlessly cumulative when offered and where McIlwain did not concede or stipulate to the cause, manner, time, or location

of the victim's murder until after the State rested and overcame a motion for a directed verdict and only after he took the stand.

As shown, the photographs were relevant and probative because they assisted in proving the cause of death [strangulation] of the victim, whose body was decomposing and that cause of death was difficult to determine, and the victim's body contained dangerous narcotic drugs, and that cause of death was not conceded or admitted by McIlwain during the State's case, and that cause of death had to be proved to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt or McIlwain would be acquitted. Here, the State introduced the 8 crime-scene photos because they assisted in proving: the cause of death of the victim where the first pathologist could not even determine a cause of death and the victim's blood contained numerous narcotic and dangerous drugs such as fentanyl and heroin that could cause an overdose death. The photos also assisted in proving the time and location of the death, which was not conceded. The photos also assisted in showing the progression of the investigation from the initial noting of what appeared to be injuries to the victim at the crime scene, to more careful examination at the morgue, to the actual scientific determination by resecting of the same injuries at the 2nd autopsy. Further, it must be remembered that both the initial pathologist and the 2nd autopsy pathologists are experts who gave *opinions* that the jury is instructed they do not have to accept and can give whatever weight they wish. Additionally, during its case in chief, the State had no idea the defendant was going to take the stand and claim self-defense and admit on cross-examination that he put his hands around the victim's neck; the defendant could have rested at the end of the State's case. The State had to prove first to the trial court and then to the jury that the victim died at McIlwain's hands and that she did not die because of some illness or a drug overdose. The crime scene photographs assisted in establishing this.

The 8 crime scene photos showed why the cause of death was difficult to determine because the victim's body was in a decomposed state. However, and importantly, the photos showed the area around the victim's neck's strap muscles was in an advanced state of decay and there was insect activity there as well. A pathologist testified during the trial that this advanced area of decomposition is an indication of an injury in that location of the body. (R. 457-60; 470). This proved to be true as discovered at the 2nd autopsy after microscopic examination. Again, the jury does not have to accept the pathologists' expert *opinions* and they certainly do not have to accept their *opinions* if they are unsupported by any corroborating evidence, and the jury does not have to accept the testimony of officers at the scene who claimed they saw bruising in this area of a decomposed body. As has been said numerous times, "a picture is worth a thousand words." Further, the crime scene photographs proved where the 2nd autopsy experts eventually took their samples, **and why**, to view under a microscope with the determination there was actual bruising under the skin in the area of the strap muscles surrounding the victim's neck.

Here in this case, where McIlwain did not admit the cause of death, the time of death, or the manner of death before trial or during the State's case, where the State had to overcome a motion for a directed verdict, and the State had to prove to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt the victim's death was caused by McIlwain, where there was no petechia around the eyes and the hyoid bone was intact, and the 2nd pathologists had to examine tissue under a microscope to render *their opinions* on the cause of death, and the jury did not have to accept those opinions, the crime scene photos were relevant and admissible, which appellant concedes, and their probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice or presentation of needless cumulative evidence. Benton, *supra*; Rule 403, SCRE (relevant

evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice).

Beyond that, each of the corroborative photographs challenged here was presented to the jury in such a way as helped ensure the photos were introduced in a manner “detached from the emotions of the case” as opposed to in an unnecessarily or unduly prejudicial manner. Gray, 408 S.C. at 616, 759 S.E.2d at 169. Moreover, the 8 photos accurately reflected what occurred to Alger and were not so extreme, unusually gruesome, or gory that they would have been inflammatory in a sense that went beyond the natural inflammation attendant to any post-mortem photo of someone who died of an unnatural and violent cause. Id.; see Collins, 409 S.C. at 535, 763 S.E.2d at 28 (plurality opinion) (“Courts must often grapple with disturbing and unpleasant cases, but that does not justify preventing essential evidence from being considered by the jury, which is charged with the solemn duty of acting as the fact-finder.”); cf. Holder, 382 S.C. at 291, 676 S.E.2d at 697 (“Although the photographs were graphic, the facts in the case were graphic, and there is no suggestion that their admission had an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. We hold the trial court properly exercised its discretion in admitting the autopsy photographs in this case.”).

Accordingly, even though the 8 challenged photos were inherently unpleasant, their potential for undue prejudice or concerns about the needless presentation of cumulative evidence, did not *substantially* outweigh their probative value under the circumstances involved in this case. Judge Curtis did not abuse her broad discretion under Rule 403 or otherwise err by admitting these 8 limited photos, and there are no proper grounds warranting a reversal of that sound discretionary ruling on appeal. See Sweat, 362 S.C. at 129, 606 S.E.2d at 515 (“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant

evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”); *see also* State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 607, 828 S.E.2d 203, 217 (2019) (recognizing it is conceivable the discretionary rulings of two different trial judges who reached opposite conclusions from the same set of circumstances will both be affirmed on appeal due to the deferential nature of the abuse of discretion standard of review).

Harmless Error

Even assuming *arguendo* error in the admission of any or all of the challenged photographs, the error was harmless in this case as it did not affect the result of the trial. Benton, *supra*; *See* State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) (“appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” (quoting Pagan, 369 S.C. at 212, 631 S.E.2d at 267); Id. (“Where ‘guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached,’ an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless.” (quoting Pagan, *supra*); “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). As the Supreme Court recently found in Benton, *supra*: “The record is loaded with compelling evidence incriminating Benton of each of the crimes in this violent spree. We conclude the photographs did not contribute to the verdict in any significant way.” Id. The same is true in the present case.

On the night of her death, the 26th/27th, the victim called her mother and was hysterical, crying, and rasping and told her mother that McIlwain had strangled her. She told her mother he threatened to kill her if she called police. Her mother called the police instead, but because the victim was afraid, she told the responding officer, who also testified, that she was alright. The officer saw McIlwain’s silhouette behind the victim in their home. McIlwain admitted at trial he

was the person standing behind the victim when the police came after the victim's mother called police. After the officer left, the victim then called her mother back and told her the same thing again, that McIlwain had strangled her, and she did not tell the police because she was afraid.

The victim disappeared that night. Her last contact with any human other than McIlwain was late Sunday night or, the early morning hours of Monday when she phoned a friend and asked her if she could come over and stay. The friend said she could come over, but the victim never arrived. On Tuesday afternoon, the victim's decomposing body was found behind a residence she and McIlwain were looking at as a possible future home. The home where her body was located was just 1 ½ miles from the victim and McIlwain's home. The home where the body was found was abandoned, and the grass had not been cut in the back yard. Alger's body had been discarded in the tall grass of the backyard of the vacant home after whoever drove her body there ran over the privacy fence and dumped her body so it would not be seen from the road or found. The victim was still wearing her jewelry on her fingers, wrist, and ears, indicating robbery was not the motive. The victim had what appeared to be visible bruising or darkening of the skin around her neck. She also had an injury to her sternum area, her lower back, and to her thigh. The victim was also wearing some of the same or similar clothing to what she was seen wearing on Sunday night, the 26th, by the deputy who responded to her home after Alger's mother called police. When Alger's body was found, the victim was not wearing any shoes, socks, or stockings, indicating she was probably first assaulted or killed at home indoors and not at the disposal site. Police identified her body almost immediately because they had responded to her home several times on police calls. It came out on cross-examination of the defendant that police had responded to McIlwain and Alger's home approximately 6-7 times when McIlwain

was assaulting Alger. Alger also had identifying tattoos on her body, including McIlwain's first name tattooed on her chest/shoulder area.

Almost immediately after discovery of the body, police searched McIlwain's and Alger's home. When they arrived at the home, McIlwain was not there. They found a hooded sweat jacket washed in the washing machine. There were holes in the walls, but no blood spatter or blood drops anywhere in the house, only a stain under the covers containing both the victim's and McIlwain's DNA. The victim's blood was on a bed spread in the closet. There was no blood on top of the comforter on the fully made bed in the master bedroom where McIlwain claimed he was sleeping when allegedly attacked by the victim. The victim's car was not at the home. A witness had seen the car leave the neighborhood on Monday and not return.

On Monday, McIlwain told his own cousin and best friend, Donald Anthony, that he had killed the victim and that she was leaving him. He also told Anthony that he was going to kill himself, and he was not going to prison for killing Alger. Anthony's wife testified she was present and saw McIlwain and Anthony together after Sunday night. McIlwain also posted a long rant on the Internet in which he stated he and the victim should have broken up long ago and he implied he was going to kill himself. McIlwain then abandoned his own cell phone in Anthony's wife's car so he could not be tracked.

After murdering the victim, McIlwain fled to Charlotte, North Carolina in the victim's car. He abandoned her car in a church parking lot in downtown Charlotte where he was captured on surveillance video. He then walked to a bus station and purchased a bus ticket to Atlanta and fled there. He abandoned the victim's phone there so he could not be tracked. He then returned to North Carolina and hid out with a cousin. While there, he told another witness that he had killed the victim. The cousin died and McIlwain left that home. He eventually fled to Rock Hill.

Under South Carolina law, flight and attempts to evade arrest have always been admissible as evidence of guilt so long as the flight or attempt to evade arrest is tied in some fashion to the crime for which the defendant is on trial. Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208–09, 631 S.E.2d at 266; State v. Turnage, 107 S.C. 478, 93 S.E. 182 (1917); State v. Thompson, 278 S.C. 1, 292 S.E.2d 581 (1982)(evidence of flight admissible to show guilty knowledge, intent, and that defendant sought to avoid apprehension) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991); State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 195, 600 S.E.2d 100, 104 (Ct. App. 2004).

While he was hiding out in a motel room, McIlwain told still another witness, who he had gone to high school with, that he had killed the victim. He was arrested in Rock Hill with this person who also testified at this trial. In his testimony at trial, McIlwain admitted each of these 3 witnesses testified truthfully about what he said to them, i.e. he killed Alger.

And, McIlwain told a cellmate Robert Chapman that he strangled the victim multiple times causing her to defecate on herself, which is consistent with what police found at the crime scene. He also told his cellmate that he dumped her body behind a vacant home and had to finish choking her to death there. McIlwain told no witness he confessed to that he killed the victim in self-defense.

D.N.A. also tied McIlwain to the murder of the victim as his DNA was found under her fingernails, and his DNA was also found on locations of her body that identified him as her killer and the person who disposed of her body.

Finally, McIlwain finally admitted on cross-examination he strangled and killed the victim, he disposed of her body, and fled to Charlotte, N.C. His self-defense and voluntary manslaughter claims did not match the evidence or his actions. The jury did not accept his self-defense or voluntary manslaughter claims. The 8 challenged crime scene photographs did not

influence or change the verdict because of the overwhelming evidence of guilt. Benton, *supra* (finding admission of photos harmless given the other evidence of defendant's guilt); Jones, 440 S.C. at 264, 891 S.E.2d at 373 (after weighing the horrific facts of this case against the improper admission of the photographs, we hold the photographs did not contribute to the jury's sentence of death and were harmless); State v. Wells, 336 S.C. 223, 426 S.E.2d 814 (Ct. App. 1992)(photo of victim admitted to accurately show crime scene was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt); State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 493, 818 S.E.2d 735, 743 (2018)(when guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, an insubstantial error not affecting the result is harmless)(quoting Byers, 392 S.C. at 447, 710 S.E.2d at 60).

Further, the crime scene photographs objected to are harmless given *the close-up photographs* [State's Ex. 20-27, 30 & 33] not objected to, *the morgue photographs* [State's Ex. 32, 34-37, 39, 40, 42-46] not objected to, and *the autopsy photographs* [State's Ex. 224-36; 242-66] admitted without objection. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless); State v. Broaddus, 361 S.C. 534, 542, 605 S.E.2d 579, 583-84 (Ct. App. 2004)(same); *see also* State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 555 (Ct. App. 2001)(any error in admitting evidence was harmless as properly admitted evidence proved the same thing); State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 409-410, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015); State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008)(the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003). *See also e.g.* State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 79, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997)("Even if

the descriptive testimony of the prosecution's witnesses adequately conveyed the brutality and malice of the crime and these photographs were unnecessary, they were harmless surplusage”).

CONCLUSION

For all of the above stated reasons, McIlwain’s conviction for the murder of Kimberly Alger must be affirmed, and this appeal dismissed.